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)


vs.
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)

MICHAEL K. BENSON,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


Michael K. Benson is subject to discipline because pled guilty to the criminal offenses of first degree child molestation, statutory sodomy, sexual exploitation of a minor child, and receiving child pornography.  
Procedure

On June 21, 2011, the Department of Health and Senior Services, Bureau of Emergency Medical Services (“DHSS”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Benson.  DHSS personally served Benson with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing on August 4, 2011.  Benson did not answer the complaint.  DHSS filed a motion for summary decision on October 31, 2011.  We gave Benson until November 15, 2011 to respond, but he did not respond.  

Under Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.446(6), we may decide this case without a hearing if DHSS establishes facts that (a) Benson does not genuinely dispute and (b) entitle DHSS to a favorable decision.  Facts may be established by admissible evidence such as a stipulation, pleading of the adverse party, discovery response of the adverse party, affidavit, or any other evidence admissible under law.
  

Our rules require Benson to file an answer.
  We may order, on our own motion, allegations pled in a complaint to be deemed admitted by a party failing to answer the complaint.
  We find Benson in violation of our rules for failing to answer DHSS’s complaint and deem the allegations in DHSS’s complaint admitted by Benson.  By failing to respond to DHSS’s motion, Benson also has not disputed the evidence DHSS submitted in support of its motion for summary decision.  Therefore, we make our findings of fact from the factual allegations in DHSS’s complaint deemed admitted by Benson and the undisputed evidence DHSS submitted in support of its motion for summary decision.
Findings of Fact
1. Benson is licensed by DHSS as an Emergency Medical Technician-Basic (“EMT-Basic”).  His license is current and active and was so at all relevant times.
2. On July 15, 2009, a felony complaint was filed in the Christian County Circuit Court, in Missouri, charging Benson with the following:
The Prosecuting Attorney of the County of Christian, State of Missouri, charges the defendant [Michael K. Benson], in violation of Section 566.067, RSMo, committed the class B felony of child molestation in the first degree punishable upon conviction under Section 558.011, RSMo, in that on or between the 20th day of February, 2008, and the 20th day 2008, in the County of Christian, State of Missouri, the defendant knowingly subjected EH (DOB:  ), 
who was then less than fourteen years old to sexual contact by touching the victim’s annus [sic] with his right hand.[
]
3. On September 25, 2009, a felony complaint was filed in the Christian County Circuit Court, in Missouri, charging Benson with the following:

Count I

The Prosecuting Attorney of the County of Christian, State of Missouri, charges the defendant [Michael K. Benson], in violation of Section 566.062, RSMo, committed the felony of statutory sodomy in the first degree, punishable upon conviction under Section 566.062, RSMo, in that on or between the 1st of December, 2008, and the 15th day of June, 2009, in the County of Christian, State of Missouri, the defendant had deviate sexual intercourse with GS (DOB:         01), who was less than twelve years old.

Count II

The Prosecuting Attorney of the County of Christian, State of Missouri, charges the defendant [Michael K. Benson], in violation of Section 573.023, RSMo, committed the class A felony of sexual exploitation of a minor, punishable upon conviction under Sections 558.011 and 573.023, in that on or between the 1st day of January, 2008 and the 14th day of June, 2009, in the County of Christian, State of Missouri, the defendant, knowing of its content and character, created child pornography by photographing G.S. (DOB:  01) in a position with his finger in her anus that has a person under the age of fourteen years as a participant.[
]
4. On August 2, 2010, Benson entered a guilty plea to first degree child molestation, statutory sodomy, and sexual exploitation of a minor child. 
5. Benson was sentenced to 15 years for each offense, to be served concurrently.
6. On July 30, 2010, a superseding information
 was filed in the United States District Court, Western District of Missouri.  Benson was charged with receiving child pornography in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2252(a)(2) and (b)(1). 
7. On July 30, 2010, Benson pled guilty to receiving child pornography. 
8. On November 23, 2010, the District Court sentenced Benson to be imprisoned for 180 months, to be served concurrently with his sentence for the state convictions.  
9. Benson is currently incarcerated at the Federal Correctional Institute located at 2113 North Hwy. 175, Seagoville, Texas.
10. EMT-Basics are responsible for adult and child patients who may be in extremely vulnerable positions.  It is common for EMT-Basics to be alone with such patients in the back of an ambulance while being transported.  

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  DHSS has the burden of proving that Benson committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  


DHSS asserts that Benson is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2 and 19 CSR 30-40.365.  Section 190.165.2 provides that DHSS:

may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621 against any holder of any certificate, permit or license required by sections 190.100 to 190.245 or any person who has failed to renew or has 

surrendered his or her certificate, permit or license for failure to comply with the provisions of sections 190.100 to 190.245 or any lawful regulations promulgated by the department to implement such sections.  Those regulations shall be limited to the following:

*   *   *

(2) Being finally adjudicated and found guilty, or having entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any activity licensed or regulated pursuant to sections 190.100 to 190.245, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

DHSS promulgated 19 CSR 30-40.365 as authorized by § 190.165.2 to implement the causes for discipline.  Under 19 CSR 30-40.365(2), DHSS:

may cause a complaint to be filed with the [Commission] as provided by Chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate, permit or license required by the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act[
] or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate, permit or license for failure to comply with the provisions of the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act or for any of the following reasons:
*   *   *

(B) Being finally adjudicated and found guilty, or having entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any activity licensed or regulated pursuant to the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]


Benson pled guilty to first degree child molestation, statutory sodomy, sexual exploitation of a minor child, and receiving child pornography.  Benson was sentenced to 15 years for each of his state offenses and 180 months for his federal offense.

DHSS asserts that the four criminal offenses of which Benson was convicted are all reasonably related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of an EMT-Basic.  Reasonable relation is a low threshold.  To relate is to only have a logical connection.
  EMT-Basics are responsible for caring for adults and children in extremely vulnerable circumstances, and may find themselves alone with patients in the back of an ambulance.  An EMT-Basic has a duty to protect children rather than subject them to a substantial risk of harm.  We agree with DHSS and 
conclude that the offenses are reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of an EMT-Basic.  

We also agree with DHSS that the four criminal offenses of which Benson was convicted are all criminal offenses involving moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is:
an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]


We have previously decided that possession of child pornography is a crime of moral turpitude,
 and courts have made the same determination.
  First degree child molestation, statutory sodomy, sexual exploitation of a minor child, and receiving child pornography are acts of baseness, vileness, and depravity and are contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.  Therefore, Benson is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B) for pleading guilty to crimes of moral turpitude that are reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of an EMT-Basic.
Summary

Benson is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B).  We grant the motion for summary decision and cancel the hearing.

SO ORDERED on December 13, 2011.



__________________________________



KAREN A. WINN



Commissioner

�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.446(6)(B).


�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(1).


�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7) and 1 CSR 15-3.425.


�Mot. Ex. 2.


�Mot. Ex. 3.


�The original Indictment filed on October 15, 2009, was dismissed on the motion of the United States


	�Section 621.045.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo Supp. 2010.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


	�Section 190.001, RSMo 2000, titles § 190.001 to 190.245, RSMo 2000, as the Comprehensive Emergency Medical Services Systems Act (“the CEMS Act”). 


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 1050 (11th ed. 2004).


	�In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).


�See Henley v. State Bd. of Accountancy, No. 10-1345 AC (May 16, 2011); Department of Health and Senior Services v. Inman, No. 07-1552 DH (Dec. 8, 2008).


	�� HYPERLINK "http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?referencepositiontype=S&serialnum=2018633567&referenceposition=898&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&sv=Split&rs=WLW11.10&db=506&tf=-1&findtype=Y&fn=_top&mt=93&vr=2.0&pbc=E9E6A228&tc=-1&ordoc=2025578722" \t "_top" � U. S. v. Santacruz, 563 F.3d 894, 898 (9th Cir. 2009)�; � HYPERLINK "http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?referencepositiontype=S&serialnum=2013246291&referenceposition=69&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&sv=Split&rs=WLW11.10&db=595&tf=-1&findtype=Y&fn=_top&mt=93&vr=2.0&pbc=E9E6A228&tc=-1&ordoc=2025578722" \t "_top" �Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Blazek,  739 N.W.2d 67, 69 (Iowa 2007)�; Chapman v. Gooden,� HYPERLINK "http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?referencepositiontype=S&serialnum=2012389444&referenceposition=977&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&sv=Split&rs=WLW11.10&db=735&tf=-1&findtype=Y&fn=_top&mt=93&vr=2.0&pbc=E9E6A228&tc=-1&ordoc=2025578722" \t "_top" � 974 So.2d 972, 977 (Ala. 2007)�.
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